
Trihunal Arbitraï óu Sport 
Cuuii of Arbitrar.ion tbr Sport 

CAS 2008/A/1473 Warren v/ USADA 

ARBITRALAWARD 

delivered by the 

COÜRT OF ARBITRATION FOR SPORT 

sitÉing in the foUowing composition: 

President: Mr. Graeme Mew, Bamster in Toronto, Canada 

Arbitrators: Mr. Christopher L. Campbell Esq., Attomey-at-law in Alameda, USA 

Mr. Peter Leaver QC, Barrister in London, England j 

in the arbitration between 
I 

JOE WARREN, Colorado Springs, USA 

Represented by Howard L. Jacobs Esq,, Attomey-at-law in Westlake Village, Califomia, USA 

- the Appellant -

and 

UNITED STATES ANTI-DOPING AGENCY, Colorado Springs, USA 

Represented by WiUiam Bock III Esq. and Stephen A. Starks Esq., Attomeys-at-law in Colorado 
Springs, USA 

- the Respondent -

Chateau de Béthusy Av. de 8eaumom2 CH-1012 Lausanne Tél:+41 21 613 50 00 Fax;+41 21 613 50 01 www.tas-cas.org 

http://www.tas-cas.org


Tnbunai Arbiirai du Sport 
Coüri of Arbitration for Spon 

2008/A/1473~-Page2 

I. INTROPUCTION 

1. This is an appeal by an athlete who has acknowledged that he committed a secand Anti-
Doping Rule violation involving a Specified Substance, namely marijuana, in a space of 
little over one year, 

2. An arbitrator sitting on the North American Court of Arbitration for Sport Panel, 
administered by the American Arbitration Assoclation (the "Doping Tribunal") imposed 
a mandatory sanction of two years ineligibility. 

3. The athlete asserts on appeal that the leamed arbitrator misapprehended the evidence and 
erred in failing to reduce the sanction based on exceptional circumstances and/or 
application of the principles of proportionality. 

IL NATURE OF THE APPEAL 

A. The Parties 

4. The appellant, Joe Warren is a 3I-year-old Greco-Roman mestier, competing in the 60 
kg ciassification. Until he was suspended by the United States Anti-Doping Agency 
("USADA"), he was a U. S. Olympic Training Center resident athlete. He was the 2006 
World Champion in his ciassification and won a gold medal at the 2006 Pan American 
Championships, 

5. USADA is the National Anti-dopmg Organisation for the United States of America. ïts 
responsibilities incïude the management of both In- and Out-of-Competition testing for 
athletes in the U.S. Olympic Movement including Olympic, Pan American, and 
Paralyropic athletes and the management of the results of such testing, includmg the 
prosecution of suspected anti-doping rule violations. 

B. The Appellant's Antï-Doping ïluïe Violation 

6. On 10 June 2007 the appellant provided a urine sample as part of the USADA testing 
programme at the US Pan American World Team Trials. 

7. Upon analysis, it was found that the athlete's urine sample was positive for the substance 
Carboxy- THC ("THC") at a concentration greater than 15 ng/mL. 

8. The appellant agreed that this positive test constituted his second anti-doping rule 
violation, his first violation for a similar offence having occurred on 15 April 2006. 

C. The Decision Appealed Fi-om 

9. A hearing was conduoted on 3 Januaiy 2008 before the Doping Tribunal consisting of 
Judge James M. Murphy (retired) sitting as a sole arbitrator of the North American Court 
of Arbitration for Sport Panel, The arbitrator's award, signed on 14 January 2008 
determined as foUows: 
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a. the appellant committed a doping violation on 10 June 2007; 

b. this was the appellant's second doping violation; 

c. the sanctioti shall be a two-year suspension effective &om the date of his 
acceptance of a provisional suspension, namely 23 July 2007; 

d. the administrative fees and expenses of the American Arbitration Association 
totalling $750 and the compensation and expenses of the arbitrator totalling 
S9,420.90 shall be bome by the United States Olympic Committee; 

e. the parties shall bear their own costs and attomeys' fees 

D. The Rules Applicable to this Case: FILA Anti-Doping Kegttlations 

10. The appellant holds a licence to compete in events sanetioned by the Fédération 
hatemationale des Luttes Associées ('TÏLA") and it was common ground between the 
parties that, for the purposes of the Anti-Doping Rule violation under consideration, the 
applicable mies are contained in the FILA Anti-DopingRegulaiions (the "Regulations"). 

11. Under Article 2,1 of the Regulations, the presence of a Prohibited Substance or its 
Metabolites or Markers in a Wrestler's bodily Specimen constitutes an anti-doping rule 
violation. 

12. By Article 10.3, in the case of specified substances which are particularly susceptible to 
unintentional anti-doping rule violations because of their general availability in medicinal 
products or which are less likely to be successfully abused as doping agents, where a 
Wrestler can establish that the use of such a specified substance was not intended to 
enhance sport performance, the foUowing periods of Ineïigibility apply: 

First violation: one year's Ineïigibility 

Second violation: ' two years' Ineïigibility. 

Third violation: Lifetime Ineïigibility 

13. Article 10.3 also provides that the athlete shall have the opportunity to establish a basis 
for eliminating or reducing (in the case of a second or third violation) these sanctions as 
provided for in Article 10.5 (Elimination or Reduction of Period of Ineïigibility Based on 
Exceptional Circumstances). 

14. Article 10.5.2 pfovides as foilows: 

ïf a Wrestler establishes in an individual case involving such violations that he or 
she bears No Significant FauU or Negligence, then the period of Ineïigibility may 
be reduced, but the reduced period of Ineïigibility may not be less than one-half of 
the minimum period of Ineïigibility oöierwise applicable, If the otherwise 
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applicable period af heiigibility is a lifetimej the reduced period under this 
section may be no iess than 8 years. 

When a Prohihited Suhstance or its Markers or Metaboliies is detected in an 
Wrestler'sSpecimen mviCtXs^iQTiQikiX\dt2,\ (s>restncQ ofFrohibifed 
Substame), the Wrestler must also establish how the ProhibitedSuhstance 
entered his or her system in order to have the period of ïndigibility rcdnced. 

E. Groünds of Appeal 

15. The appellant asserts that the Doping Tribunal: 

a. Failed to follow the applicable FILA Regulations; 

b. Failed to follow the Code; 

c. Made improper assumptions in rendering its decision; 

d. Failed to accurately assess the evidence in rendering its decision; 

e. Rendered a sanction that was inconsistent with recent sanctions specified by 
FILA. 

■16. The appellant's brief asserts that the only issue to be detennined by the arbitration is the 
length of sanction and that the sanction imposed by the Doping Tribunal should be 
reduced on the basis that the appellant bore no significant fault or negligence for his 
aoknowledged anti-dopmg mie violation and/or that the period of ineligibility prescribed 
by the Regulations should be reduced through application of theprinciple that the 
severity of a penalty must be in proportion with the seriousness of the infiingement. 

f. Jurisdiction of the Court of Arbitration for Sport 

17. The appellant was tested In accordance with the USADA Protocol for Ölympic Movement 
Testing. The hearing before the arbitrator was conducted pursuant to the American 
Arbitration Association Supplementary Procedures for the Arbitration ofOlympic Sport 
Doping Disputes (the '*Frocedures"). Pursuant to R-49A of the Procedures, which 
incorporates the mandatory Articles on Appeals firom the World Anti-Doping Code (the 
"Code"), in cases arising from competition at an International Event or in cases involving 
Ïnteraational-Level Athletes (such as the appellant), a decision by an Anti-Doping 
Organisation that an anti-doping rule violation has been committed may be appealed 
exclusively to the Court of Arbitration for Sport ("CAS"). 

G. Procedural History 

18. The appellant filed his statement of appeal on 4 Febraary 2008 (in accordance with CAS 
Art R49) and filed his appeal brief on 14 February 2008 (in accordance with Art. R51). 

. On 10 March 2008 the respondent, USADA, filed its answer. 
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H. Law AppÜcable 

19. Article 18.2 of the Regulations provides that, subject to Article 18.5 the Regulations shall 
be interpreted as an independent and autonomous text and not by reference to existing 
law or statutes. Article IS.5 provides that the Regulations shall be interpreted in a 
manner that is consistent with applicable provisions of the Code. 

20. To the extent that it is appropriate or necessary to specify an applicable system of law, 
the doraicile of FÏLA is Switzerland and, accordingly, Swiss law would apply, The seat 
of this arbitration is Lausanne, Switzerland (CAS Art. 28). By direction of the president 
of the Panel, the hearing of this appeal took place in New York, NY, United States of 
America, on 7 May 2008, 

m FACTS 

21. The background facts are largely uncontroverted. Joe Warren is a native of Grand 
Rapids, Michigan, where he was a high school wrestling champion. He went on to 
become an AU-Amerioan wrestler at the University of Michigan. hi 2006 he became 
only the fifth American to hold the title of World Champion in Greco-Roman Wrestling. 
Over the course of his wresthng career he has enjoyed numerous other honours inoluding, 
most recentïy, a gold medal m the World Cup at Antalya, Turkey in February 2007, a 
gold medal m the U.S. National Championships in Las Vegas in April 2007 and, but for 
the positive test which is the subject of this appeal, the gold medal at the senior world 
team trials, Las Vegas in June 2007. He has not lost a wrestling match in four years. 

22. Life has not always been easy for Mr, Warren. He has experienced a number of personaï 
setbacks. Of particular note, in December 1997, while the appellant and his 'Ijest friend" 
and college roommate, Jeff Reese, who was also a wrestler, were losing weight, in 
preparation for a competition, Mr. Reese collapsed and died. At the time of the incident, 
the appellant and Mr. Reese were exercising in a sauna, wearing rubber suits. This is a 
technique employed to lose weight quickly in order to "make weight" for competition 
classification purposes. This incident apparently affected the appellant profoundly and he 
claims that, shortly after Mr. Reese's death, he started to smoke marijuana. 

23. With the implementation of the Code, and its adoption by FILA in 2004, the presence of 
marijuana in an athlete's bodily Specimen in a concentration greater than 15ng/mL 
became an anti-doping rule violation. 

24. Two features of marijuana that are important to the consideration of this case are that: 

a. As a cannabinoid, marijuana, or THC, is a "Specified Substance", that is, a 
Prohibited Substance which is particularly susceptible to unintentional anti-
doping rule violations becaUse of its general availability iu medicinal products or 
which is less likely to be successftilly abused as a doping agent (Article 10.3 of 
the Regulations); and 
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b. Caimabinoids are only screened for in In-Competition testing (that is testing 
where an athlete is selected for testing in connection with a Specific Competition; 
the Code, 2007 Prohibited List, S-8). 

25. On 15 April 2006 the athlete provided a urine sample in-competition which tested 
positive for the presence of cannabinoids above the prescribed limit. He received a three 
month suspension for that anti-doping mie violation, The suspension was deferred, 
however, pending completion by the appellant of a USADA anti-doping education 
programme which the appellant took online. 

26. The appellant bas conceded that̂  until his first positive test in April 2006, he smoked 
marijuaiia on a "fairly regular basis". 

27. Another personal setback was experienced by the appellant in March 2007 when the 
appellant's wife ended a pregnancy due to chromosomal abnonnalities discovered by her 
doctors. She was hospitalised for several days and subsequently took a medical ïeave of 
absence from work. 

28. Subsequent to his first anti-doping rule violation, the appellant claims that he refrained 
from smoking marijuana with one exception, namelyan episode in May 2007, which led 
to his second anti-doping rule violation, which is the subject of this appeal. 

A. Evidence Before the Doping Tribunal 

29. The appellant called the following witnesses: 

a. The appellant; 

b. Christy Warren (the appellant's wife); 

c. Allan Greenfield, M.S,, M.S.W,, Licensed Psychotherapist; 

30. USADA called the following witnesses: 

a. Dr. Naakesh Dewan, MD, Psychiatrist; 

b. Dr. Michael L. Smith, Ph.D., Forensic Toxicologist 

31. The evidentiary proceedings before the Doping Tribunal were not transcribed. The 
following fmdings are summarised from the arbitrator's award dated 14 January 2008. 

32. Allan Greenfield, psychotherapist, started working with Mr. Warren in September 2007. 
His diagnosis is that the appellant suffers Major Depression, unspecified post-traumatic 
stress disorder, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, predominantly hyperactive-
impulsive type ("ADHD") and Personality Disorder Not Otherwise Specified (TsT.O.S.). 

33. Mf. Greenfield attributed five events in the appellant's life to be significant to his 
psychological conditions; 
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a. His use of marijxiana which at times has been significant but which was not 
quantified; 

b. A chaotio pattem of emotional neglect and dishonesty in his home while growing 
up; 

0. ADHD during childhüod; 

d. The death of his roommate and best friend in college; and 

e. The relationship with his wife and the miscarriage that she suffered in March 
2007. 

34. As a resuit of these psychological conditions, Mr, Greenfield expressed the opinion that 
the appellant was overwhehned and had no skill set to care for his feelings. He had 
insomnia which he iojeWj based on his previous experience, could be overcome by the 
use of marijuana. He could not care for himself and relied on his wife to care for his 
problems. However, since she was "crushed" by her miscarriage and was self-
medicating, she was unavailable to meet his needs. Mr. Greenfield characterised the 
appellant's depression as impah-ing his judgment to the point that he did not consider the 
ramifications to his athletic career when he smoked marijuana on one occasion in May 
2007. 

35. Mr. Greenfield acknowledged that the appellant's use of marijuana did not remove his 
responsibility to distingüish between right and wrong. 

36. The Doping Tribunal found that Mr. Greenfield Éiiled to determine, as part of his 
diagnosiSj the appellant's historical pattem of marijuana use, except for the use foUowing 
his friend's death in 1997. 

37. Mr. Greenfield concluded that the appellant knew that he was putting his athletic career 
at risk by using marijuana but was unable to conttol his actions. He acknowledged that 
the appellant had the capacity to make a different choice and could have used a different 
"escape mechanism" but the appellant feit that marijuana was his most effective choice to 
help him. 

38. Dr. Dewan, a psychiatrist called by USADA, who consults in substance abuse treatment 
centres and in hospital and is a sport psychiatrist, reviewed Mr, Greenfield's report. He 
concluded that Mr. Greenfield's analysis was incomplete. He looked at the 
psychodynamio conflicts and noted a need for a much greater number of issues to be 
addressed for a comprehensive psychological diagnosis or worfcup. His evidence was 
that in order for an ofajective diagnosis of the appellant's psychological status to be made, 
the additionai Information required would include: family history of substance abuse and 
depression, a history of the appellant's previous episodes of depression, a comprehensive 
mental status examination, cognitive examination and objective measurement of 
depressive states or symptoms existing on an emerging basis. 
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39. Dr. Dewan agreed that a properly diagnosed case of Major Depression could impair 
cognitive ability and fiinctions as well as the ability to teil right from wrong. 

40. Dr. Dewan acknowledged that there Was no evidence to suggest that marijuana is a 
performance enhancitig substance for a wtestler. 

41. The arbitrator's award makes no reference to the evidence fi-om Dr. Smith. USADA's 
designation of witnesses for this appeal, in which Dr. Smith was, until substituted by Dr. 
Gustafson, to have testified, noted that Dr. Smith would evaluate any testimony or 
evidence from the appellant or his physicians or experts conceming the metabolisation of, 
and urine clearance times, for marijuana. 

42. The appellant testified that prior to his first positive test in 2006 (which he claimed was 
the first positive for cannabinoids for a wrestler); he believed use of marijuana araong 
wrestlers and coaches to be common, notwithstanding the introduction of In-Competition 
testing for cannabinoids in 2004, As a result of his anti-doping rule violation in 2006, he 
was well aware that a second violation would carry a more severe penalty *'but it was 
hard to stop because he needed to use it to help him sleep." He acknowledged using 
marijuana in late May 2007. Two or three days before the competition at which he 
provided the sample which led to his second anti-doping rule violation, he had been m a 
steam room, trymg to make weight, and had reallscd that by smoking marijuana there Was 
the possibility of a positive test result. The Doping Tribunal found that, neverthelesSj the 
appellant made a conscious decision to compete in au international event knowing full 
well that the gold medalist would be required to sübmit a urine sample for drug testing. 
Had he not competed, he would not have tested positive. 

43. Christy Warren testified that the day after the May 2007 incident where he had smoked 
marijuana again on one occasion, she told her husband that such incidents must not 
happen again, due to her concern that he might test positive. 

B. Evidence Before the CAS Tribunal 

44. Certain facts which the parties had siipulated to before the Doping Tribunal were also 
stipulated to before the CAS Tribunal. In addition, the parties stipulated that 
cannabinoids were included on the List of Prohibited Substances and Methods (the 
"List") forming part of the Code, which was introduced in 2003 and entered into force on 
1 January 2004. The parties also agreed that the List was distribüted to all athletes 
(including the appellant). 

. 45, Pursuant to directions given by the President of the Panels witness statements were filed 
in advance of the hearing. The parties were directed that the witness statements tendered 
by them would stand as the evidence in chief of the witnesses but that the parties would 
be at liberty to adduce further evidence in chief orally but only for the purposes of 
complimenting or amplifying what was contained in the witness statements. All 
witnesses were to be made available for cross-examination, either Jn person or, where it 
was feit appropriate and in the interest of justice to do so, by telephone conference. 
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46. On behalf of the appellant, statements were provided from the following witnesses: (a) 
Dr. Michael Gendel, M.D. Psychiatrist; (b) Joe Wanen; (c) Christy Warren; and (d) Rich 
Bender. 

47. On behalf of U S A D A . statements were tendered by the following witnesses: (a) Dr. 
Richard A. Gustafson, Ph.D, Toxicologist; (b) Dr. Naakesh Dewan, MD, Psychiatrist. 

48. The following witnesses gave oral evidence on behalf of the appellant: (a) Christy 
Warren; (b) Dr. Michael Gendel, M,D. Psychiatrist; (c) Joe Wanen. 

49. The following witnesses gaVe oral testimony on behalf of USADA: (a) Dr. Richard A. 
Gustafson, Ph.D, Toxicologist; (b) Dr. Naakesh Dewan, MD, Psychiatrist. 

50. The following summarised testimony has been organised by topic^ not by order of 
witness appearance. 

1. The Appellant's Background 

51. Some of the appellanfs athletic achieveraents have already been noted. The evidence 
given concemmg the appellanfs background was similar to that recited by the Doping 
Tribunai, The appellanfs lifelong ambition has been to compete in the Olympics, He 
States that he is likely the only United States athlete capable of qualifying for the 2008 
Beijing Olympics inhis weight classification (60 kilograms), 

2. The Appellant'g Current Suspension 

52. The appellant accepted a provisional suspension, as a result of the adverse analytical 
finding following the 10 June 2007 sample, on 23 July 2007. 

53. The effect of the athlete's current term of ineïigibility of 2 years will result not only in 
him missing the opportunity to partioipate in the 2008 Olympics but, also, will cause him 
to miss the 2009 World Championships in August 2009 because all opportUnities to 
qualify for that toumament would occur while he was still under suspension. 

3. The Appellant's Personal Circnmstances 

54. The appellant states that he bas faced a number of very personal hardshjps in his life. 
Until hö started seeing Mr. Greenfield, he did not give a great deal of thought to these 
personal issues and how much they negatively impacted on his whole life. He says that it 
took him many years of personal pain and suffering to realise that he needed help. Until 
he started seeing Mr. Greenfield, the only person he ever discussed his ''very personal 
and difficult experiences" with was his wife, Christy. 

55. The appellant testified that during his childhood, he had difficulty sitting still. He was 
impulsive. He had difficulty with attention, difficulty with organising tasks and had a 
hard time paying close attention to activities at school. He can remember feeling 
depressed from quite a young age, He also had issues with self esteem and often feit 
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angry for no apparent reason. The only thing that seemed to help calm those feelings 
during schoo! was x^Testling. 

56. The appelïant's father moved out of the family home wheti the appellant was in the tenth 
grade. The circumstances of his father's deparmre were not really discussed in the 
household but were, upon reflection, significant, 

57. After leaving high school, the appellant attended the University of Michigan, where he 
continued with his wrestling. His best friend and college room mate was Jeff Reese. As 
already noted, Mr. Reese died suddenly in December 1997, while he and the appellant 
were preparing for a wrestling dual meet by exercising in a sauna, wearing rubber snits. 
Mr. Reese apparently crawled toward the sauna door and collapsed. The appellant 
testified that he tried to resuscitate Mr, Reese using CPR, but to no avail. Mr. Reese died 
from kidney failure and a heart malfunction. 

58. The appellant acknowledgedj in cross-eïtaïnination, that his name did not feature in press 
reports concerning Mr. Reese's death. He statcd that, nevertheless, there was 
considerable media attention and pressure on him and other athletes from the University 
of Michigan, 

59. The appellant and his wife have been together for over eight years and were married in 
July 2006. Since October 2002 they have hved in Colorado Springs to further the 
appelïant's wrestling career. 

60. In 2006, Christy Warren became pregnant. However, in late March 2007 she had to end 
her pregnancy due to chromosomal abnormalities discovered by her doctors. She was 
hospitalised for several days and thereafter took a medïcal leave of absence. 

61. Following the loss of their unbom child, both the appellant and his wife were sad. His 
wife, in particular, was experiencmg a sense of hopelessness. According to Dr. Gendel, 
during this time the appellant was experiencing a state of desperation about emotionally 
losing his wife. 

62. Mr. Warren has held part-time employment at Home pepot. He works in the department 
which mïxes paint for customers. hi 2007 he was averaging approximately 10 hours 
work per week. However, the amount of time worked would fluctuate with the 
appelïant's competition scheduïe. He believes that he worked very little during late May 
and early June of 2007 because of competitions. 

4. The Appellant' s Use of Marijuana 

63. The appellant started smoking marijuana very shortly after the death of Mr. Reese. He 
continued to smoke marijuana "on a fairly regülar basis" from 1998 until he tested 
positive in April 2006. He claims that when he tested positive m 2006, he did not know 
that it had been recently added to the banned list (as stipulated by the parties, marijuana 
became a Prohibited Substance on 1 January 2004). The appellant did not challenge the 
positive test and accepted a waming from USAÖA for testing positive. He took 

■ USADA's online drug education course, which he described as "brief. 



ZH-. J U i i l\J\JO \ I .-jy v u u r t UI n i u i i i Q i i u i i v n o / m j I ' U i U / I . \ i./ LV 

'Inbunal Arbitral du .Sport 
Court of Arbitration l'or Spon 

2008/A/1473-Pagell 

64. After initially stating That he had no knowledge as to what the clearance time might be for 
THC to eliminate itself from the body after marijuana Use, the appellant acknowledged 
that, during the cotïrse of taking the USADA drug education course, he understood that 
the effects could linger in a person's system for up to one month. 

65. FoUowing the positive test in April 2006, the appellant stopped using marijuana. He 
believed that marijuana and associated paraphemalia, whiah had previously been kept in 
the home, had been removed. 

66. The appellant and his wife went through a very rough time after the termination of her 
pregnancy in March 2007. They experienced an inability to discuss their emotions. One 
day, in late May 2007, realising that they needed to talk to each other, the appellant's 
wife, without much talking or thought, produced some marijuana and a pipe and they 
smoked marijuana together. They both testified that this was the first time that the 
appellant had used marijuana in a little over one year but that it did help the two of them 
open up and talk, They talked for most of the night about a lot of things, including their 
unborn child's death and their reactions to it. Both of them feit that, as a result of this 
one experience, they had been able to reconnect. Christy Warren said that it made her 
feel somewhat less desperate. The appellant said that he was able to sleep. 

67. Christy Warren mimediately (the next day) realised that it had been a mistake to use 
marijuana beoause the appellant was still wrestling. She testified that she knew that 
marijuana was tested for In-Competition, but it did not occur fo her that smoking one 
time two weeks or so before a competition could caüse a positive result. The appellant 
and his wife deny discussing with each other whether their use of marijuana on that one 
occasion could cause him to test positive. 

68. Christy Warren did, however, airange for her husband to see his doctor, Dr. Ravin, 
because the appellant remamed anxious and unable to sleep. The evidentiary record 
included prescription receipts indicating that Dr. Ravin prescribed medication for the 
appellant on 29 May 2007, Both the appellant and his wife acknowledged that when they 
met with Dr. Ravin, neither of them mentioned to Dr. Ravin that the appellant had 
recently smoked marijuana. It is to be noted that Christy Warren's evidence aboüt the 
appelïant's inability to sleep conflicted with that of the appellant. As is set out in 
Paragraph 66 above, the appellant told the Panel that the use of marijuana in Msy 2007 
enabled him to sleep. 

69. The appellant is adamant that, prior to the positive test in June 2007, he only used 
marijuana the one time, and that he did so 12 to 13 days before he was tested. 

5. The Appellanfs Decision to Compete on 10 June 2007 

70. During the period April - June 2007, the appellant states that he was under extreme 
pressure. He was trying to cut weight, He was experiencing sleepkssness. His father 
had recently lost his job. His uncle had committed suicide, Î i particular, he was 
experiencing a real problem communicating with his wife foUowing the loss of their 
unborn child. 
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71. While the appellant realised that he should not have used marijuana on the one occasion 
in May 2007 that he acknowledges having done so, he did not think about the option of 
puUing out of the 10 June 2007 toumament that he was entered in. 

72. Two or three days before he competed the appellant had what he described as a "fleefing 
thought" while he was sitting in a steam room. His thought was "ï smoked - will my 
urine be positive?" however he concluded that the marijuana coiild not still be in his 
system. The appellant's testünony was that if he had thought that there might still be 
marijuana in his systera, he would not have competed on 10 June 2007. 

73. By the date of competition on 10 June 2007, the appellant claims that he was still dealing 
wiih his "internal terror". Notwithstanding this, he was able to give media interviews and 
give an appearance that he was fiïnctioning normally. 

6. The Toxïcologv Evidence 

74. The only expert in toxicology whose evidence was admitted was Dr. Gustafson. Dr. 
Gustafson holds the rank of Commander in the United States Navy. His doctoral work 
dealt with excretion times for marijuana and his thesis Was entitled "Pharmacokinetics 
and Pharmocodynamics ofOral Delta-Q-Tetrahydrocamabinol". 

75- Dr. Gustafson testified that the average concentration of the three aliquots tested in the 
appellant's A Sample was a concentration of 50.79 ng/mL. The three aliquots tested in 
the B Sample yielded an average calculated concentration of 69.50 ng/mL. In his 
opinion, regardless of the quantity of marijuana ingested, any marijuana use two weeks 
prior to the provision of a urine sample would be unlikely to produce a calculated 
concentration of THC at 15 ng/mL (the reporting threshold under the Code) let alone 
average concentrations of 50.79 ng/mL and 69,50 ng/mL, 

76. On cross-examination, Dr. Gustafson aoknowledged that he had no Information as to how 
marijuana had entered the appellant's system and that he did not have Information as to 
strength or quality of the marijuana used. He aoknowledged that the potency of the 
marijuana used would have an impact on the concentration of the metabolite found in a 
person's urine and how long it takes for the metabolite to excrete. Throughout his 
testimony Dr. Gustafson maintained the position that even m the case of a heavy 
marijuana user, he would expect a result below the reporting threshold no more than 5 to 
6 days after the last marijuana use. 

77. Dr. Gustafson aoknowledged that none of the studies that he was aware of, nor his 
personal clinioal experience, Involved subjects who engaged in rapid weight loss by 
dehydration but feit that rapid weight loss would not have an effect on the excretion rate. 
However, he aoknowledged that his evidence on average excretion rates assumed normal 
liver and kidney function, 

78. Dr. Gendel is a specialist in psychiatry. He professes no expertise in toxicology, 
Nevertheless, he said that he did not believe that the concentration of THC found in the 
appellant's urine was a reliable indicator of when the appellant used marijuana, He 
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acknowledged that some toxioologists might disagree with him but held to the view that 
such evidence was unreliable. 

79. Given their respeciive areas of expertise, and despite a careful cross-examinatioti of Dr, 
Gustafson "by the appellant's counsel, we feel bound to prefer the views of Dr. Gustafson 
to those expressed by Dr. Gendel on the issue of excretion tates of THC. 

7. Psvchiatric Evidence 

80. Although tlie reports from Mr. Greenfield, the psychologist, formed part of the record 
before the Doping Tribunal and, hence, part of the record before the CAS Tribunal, Mr. 
Greenfield was not called as a witness and, thus, his evidence was not subjected to cross-
examination. We have therefore attached little weight to it. 

81. Tlie evidence of Dr. Gendel was tendered on behalf of the appellant and he was cross-
examined by counsel for the respondent He is certified by the American Board of 
Psychiatry in neurology in psychiatry, addiction psychiatry and forensic psychiatry. He 
is currently an associate clmical professor in the department of psychiatry at the 
University of Colorado Health Sciences Center. He also maintains a private practice. 

82. Dr. Gendel's declaration included a review of Mr. Greenfield's report. Dr. Gendel was 
generally supportive of the condusions reached by Mr. Greenfield. His opinion, which 
was based not only on a review of Mr. Greenfield's report but, also, of the briefs filed on 
this appeal as well as a 2 '/i hour meeting with the appellant ofl 11 February 2008, at 
which formal and mformal mental status testing was conducted by him as part of his 
noraial forensic psychiatrie evaluation, offered the following diagnosis: 

a. Lifelong depression (Dysthymic Disorder) beginning in childhood with several 
episodes of major depression; 

b. An extensive history of anxiety disorder mcluding generalised anxiety disorder; 

c. Panic disorder and probable post-traumatic stress disorder ("PTSD"); 

d. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder; and 

e. Cognitive impairment/reduced efficiency of cognitive functioning. 

83. Dr. Gendel based his diagnosis of Dysthymic Disorder on the following: 

3. The appellant's reported onset of depression startmg in the third grade at school; 

b. The appellant's clements of depressive experience throughout his life without 
periods of fiiU relief or fijll remission; 

c. The appellant's self esteem difficukies, concentration difficulties and times of 
feelinghopeless; 
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The appellant-had experienced a great deal of rage and anger as a child. Dr. Gendel 
noted that the appellant's success in wrestling was the prime measure by which he had 
estabiished any self-confidence or self esteera. His diagnosis of episodio major 
depression was based on "significant periods of iftcreased depression with multiple 
bïovegetative symptoms", 

84. Dr. Gendel's diagnosis of an extensive history of anxiety disorder was based in part on 
the foUowing; 

a. From an early age the appellant had experienced anxiety in the form of excessive 
worry, irritabilityj and difficulty with concentration; and 

b. His post-traumatic stress symptoms included intrusive thoughts and dreams about 
his best friend's death, times when he was re-experiencing the traumatic event of 
his friend's death and behaviour in the form of avoiding places related to that 
traumatic event and restricted range of affect. Symptoms of increased arousal 
included difficulty sleeping and hypervigilance. 

85. The diagnosis by Dr, Gendel of ADHD was based in part upon the foUowing: 

a. The appellant's reported childhood hyperactivity and irritability that Were only 
managed through wresfUng; 

b. The appellanfs long history of difficulty in sitting still, impulsivity, difficulty 
with attention, difficulty with organising tasks and failure to pay close attention to 
important activities; 

c. The appellanfs easy distractibility; and 

d. The appellanfs history of having a calming response to stimulant medication. 

86. Dr. Gendel's diagnosis of cognitive impairmenVreduced efficiency of cognitive 
functioning was based upon the cumuiative cognitive effects of the foregoing conditions 
whjch, he füund, were ftirther worsened by the acute stress of the situations that he 
encountered. 

87. With specific reference to the period April - June 2007, Dr. Gendel was of the opinion 
that the appellant could see that his wife was in profound distress and that his concern 
about her and his helplessness to assist her built rapidly into extreme emotional turmoil 
Inthe words of Dr. Gendel, in May2007: 

"Joe Warren saw his worïd crumbling due to grief about his recent loss and his 
desperation about [his] wife's increasing envelopment in her distress. He had 
stopped sleeping, and when he did sleep, he had dreams about his college room 
mate's death (post-traumatic symptoms), His wife was struggling terribly after 
the death of their unbom ohild." 
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88. Dr. Gendel said that he had accepted the appellant's assertion that he had only used 
marijuana once in May 2007, although he acknowledged that if thera was compelling 
evidence to suggest that he had used marijuana more often, it would undermine the 
appellant'2 credibiHty. Dr. Gendel described the reported one time lise of marijuana by 
the appellant and bis wife in May 2007 as an "abreactive experience" which enabled the 
appellant and his wife to reconnect and, in the appellant's eyes, for him to feel more 
committed to his wife and somewhat less desperate. 

89. According to Dr. Gendel, in the days leading up to and including the 10 June 2007 
competitjon, the appellant was struggling with overwhehning anxiety, night terrors, 
insomnia and a desperate need to help his wife. He Was sufïering from "very substantial 
psychiatrie illnesses" combined with the fact that his wife appeared to be crumbling in 
front of him as a result of the termination of her pregnancy. At the same time, the 
appellant's support network, which was his wife, was unavailable to him. Accordingly, 
in Dr. Gendel's opinion, the appellant's actions, and the consideration of whether or not 
he was significantly negligent; can only be analysed in the context of the intense 
psychiatrie issues with which he was dealing. 

90. Dr. Gendel noted that the Doping Tribunal had concluded that the appellant had made a 
"calculated decision to tak© the chance on a possible positivo test with full knowledge of 
the consequences". It was Dr. Gendel's opinion, based on his background and experience 
and his conversations with the appellant, that the arbitrator's conclusions would not 
accurately reflect the mental and emotional state of the appellant in May and June 2007. 
Of particülar importance, according to Dr. Gendel, the appellant's executive functioning 
was impaired with the result that his ability to adapt to changing sïtuations was impaired. 
In the case of the appellant, according to Dr. Gendel, this meant that his ability to "shnply 
decide whether or not to compete'' was impaired. Dr. Gendel acknowledged, however, 
that he could not go back and measure the degree of cognitive impairment or executive 
functioning retroactively. 

91. Dr. Naakesh Dewan, psychiatrist, was called as a witness by USADA. He is the 
president of a company called Advanced Psychiatry, P.A. and of the Center for Mental 
Health Care ïmprovement located in Clearwater, Florida. As such, he works with state 
govemments and large insurance companies to disseminate materials on guidelines and 
best practices in psychiatrie evaluations and treatment, He has had a Diploma in 
psychiatry from the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology since 1993, 

92. Unlike Dr. Gendel, Dr. Dewan had never examined the appellant. As Was the case before 
the Doping Tribunal, Dr. Dewan was critical of the conclusions reached by Mr. 
Greenfield, priraarily on the basis that he did not have enough information to reach his 
diagnoses. He was similarly critical of the diagnoses offered by Dr. Gendel. 

93. Dr. Dewan stated that he found it contradictory for the appellant to be enveloped in his 
wife's distress but, despite being so, to come up with the idea of engaging with her by 
talking through their problems, while at the same time being impaired in his ability to 
exercise judgment in respect of his use of marijuana and his subsequent decision to 
compete, 
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94. Dr, Dewan acknowledged that there was no data that he was aware of on the cuniülative 
effect of the several disorders which Dr. Gendel had noted. 

95. Dr. Dewan indicatcd that the question of whether lifelong depression would have a 
cumulative cognitive effect, that could affect cognitive impairment, was the subject of 
ongüing research. 

96. Eoth Dr. Dewan and U S A D A conceded that the appellant experienced "acute stress". Dr. 
Dewan also confïrmed that in his clinical experience, acute stress could lead to things like 
poorjüdgment 

IV PARTIES* POSITIONS 

A. Appellant 

97. Counsel for the appellant points to the diagnoses of Dr. Gendel and argues that the 
appellant's actions and decisions have to be considered in light of those diagnoses. 

98. It is argued that the appellant has admitted his mistakes and taken steps to improve 
himself, This applies not only to his current predicament but, also, to the first positive 
dmg test. He started therapy with Mr. Greenfield in' September 2007 and is continuing 
with Dr. Gendel. 

99. The appellant accepted a provisional suspension on 23' July 2007. He reportedly 
represents the only realistic hope that the United States had of corapeting in the 60 
kilogram weight class at the 2008 Beijing Olympics. 

100. At the time that the appellant smoked marijuana in late May 2007, and in the days 
leading up to and including his 10 June 2007 competition, the appellant was struggling 
with overwhelming anxiety, night terrors, insomnia and a desperate need to connect with 
his wife. He was suffering firom very sfubstantial psychiatrie illnesses, combined with the 
fact that his wife appeared to be crumbling in front of him as a result of the terminatïon of 
her pregnancy. At the same time his support network, which was his wife, was at the 
time unavailable. Accordingly, his actions, and the consideration of whether or not he 
was significantly negligent, can and should only be analysed in the context of these . 
intense psychiatrie issues with which he was dealing. 

101. Given the foregoïng context, the Doping Tribunal was incorrect in its conclusions that the 
appellant was significantly negligent, for the foUowing reasonsi 

a. The Dopmg Tribunal stated that the appellant "failed to foUow up on his drug 
education class or ieam from it". However, no evidence was presented that there 
was any available foïlow up afler the USADA drug education class. Furthermore, 
the appellant, who had regularly smoked marijuana for several years until his first 
positive test, stopped smoking after the positive test, and only smoked one time 
thereafler in late May 2007, Accordmgly, the education course appeared to have 
had a "dramatic leaming ejcperience for hira"; 
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b. The Doping Tribunal stated that the appellant "failed to treat his use or investigate 
his long standing evidence of substance abuse despite lts connection to his 
depressed state". However, the evidence indicated that the appellant had, in fact, 
stopped smoking marijuana after the first positive test, and only smoked the one 
time thereafter. Furthennore there was no evidence before the Doping Tribunal 
that the appellant's marijuana use was connected to his depressed state and the 
evidence of Dr. Gendel would establish that the appellant's depression was an 
independent illness; 

c. The Doping Tribunal stated that the appellant's "first positive test indicated a 
need for behaviontal change", This statement ignored the fact that the appellant 
stopped smoking after the positive test and only smoked the one time thereafter; 

d. The Doping Tribunal stated that the appellant and his wife "kept marijuana in 
their home, kept paraphemalia used to smoke marijuana in the family and greeted 
friends who were users and allowed them to smoke in the family home", This 
was directly contrary to the evidence that was actually presented and represents a 
direct and basic error; 

e. The Doping Tribunal critlcised the appellant's "failure to seek competent mental 
and medical advice despite the obvious need for it". This fmding, made with the 
benefit of hindsightj ignores the cultural biases agamst mental heaith counselling 
that exist in the elite wrestling world within which the appellant lived. 

f. The Doping Tribunal critioised the appellant for his "calculated decision to take 
the chance on a possible positive test with the full knowledge of the 
consequences", The appellant made no such calculated decision and the 
arbitrator*s finding in this regard was not suppoited by any of the evidence that 
was actually presented at the hearing. 

g. The appellant argües, toher, or in the altemative, that whether or not this tribunal 
concludes that there was ''No Significant Fault or Negligence" on the part of the 
appellant, an application of the principle of proportionality^ namely, that the 
severity of a penalty must be in proportion with the seriousness of the 
m&jngement̂  should resuh in a reduction of the period of ineligibility imposed on 
the appellant to less than one year. ïn this regard the appellant relies, in 
particular, upon FINA v. MellouU (CAS 2007/Ayi252) in which the Tribunal 
applied the proportionality principle to reduce an otherwise applicable 2 year 
suspension to 18 months. 

h. In support of his proportionality argumentthe appellant asserts: 

i. That if the appellant was negligent at all, his negligence was slight; 

ii. The substance involved m both positive tests - marijuana - is not 
performance enhancmg; 

McLain Wardv. F.E.I, (CAS 1999/A/24Ó) 
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iii. . The substance involved, which is only prohibited in competition, was not 
in fact used in oompetition but, rather, was last used some 2 weeks prior to 
competition; 

iv. The appellant admitted the offence and has not raised frivolous defences; 
and 

V. The amount of fault or negligence, if any , is not sufficiënt to cause the 
appellant and, perhaps, the entire United States 60 kilogram Greco-Roman 
wresting team to miss the 2008 Olympic Games 

i, The appellant urges a reduction of the sanction sufficiënt fo enable the appellant 
to compete at the United States Olympic trials on 12 June 2008. 

B. Respondent 

102. USADA's submissions begin with a reminder that the athlete bears the onus of proving 
that the circumstances of his violation are exceptional and that he bears "no significant 
fault ot negligence" in connection with the violation. 

103. USADA goes on to note that Article 10.5,2 of the Regulations requires the Wrestler to 
establish how the Prohibited Substance entered his system in order to have a period of 
Ineligibility reduced. USADA argues that the necessity of proving "how the substance 
got there" is a pre-condition to qualify for any reduction in'sanction flows naturally firom 
the principle of athlete respons ibility for what goes in to his or her body. In this regard, 
USADA submits that the appellant cannot square his evidence of one-time marijuana use 
12 to 13 days before he was tested with the scientific evidence firom Dr, Gustafson that 
the effects of such one time use wonld (hut for'inconsequential traces) have been 
eliminated firom the athlete's system well before he was tested. In other words, the panel 
should conclude that the appellant has failed to establish how the Prohibited Substance 
entered his system because "how" should mean not only the method (i.e, smoking 
marijuana) but also the occasion (i.e. when). 

104. Even assuraing that the Tribunal accepts that the appellant has met his burden of 
establishing how the THC entered his system, the exceptional circumstances rule 
contamed in Article 10.5 of the Regulations was "meant to have an impact only in cases 
where the circumstances are truly exceptional and not in the vast majority of cases," To 
conclude otherwise would be to permit the exceptional circumstances rule to undermine 
the consistent and uniform application of anti-doping rules to similarly athletes around 
the world. In this case, in particular, the appellant is inviting the panel to ignore the 
sancrion provisions of the Code and piek a lesser period of ineligibility which is tailor-
madeto allowthe appellant to compete in the Olympic Games. 

105. Counsel for USADA refeixed to CAS 2007/A/1252 FINA v/MeUouïi where the athlete, a 
swimmer, tested positive for the presence of amphetamine in his urme sample. The 
evidence was that, in the context of ttymg to get a university project completed by a 
midnight deadline, the athlete used a pill which was given to him by a classmate. The 
classmate apparently had a medical prescription for the use of the pills and such pills 
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were used widely on American university campuses to help students concentrate better 
and sfay awake at night in order to study. 

106. The CAS Panel was unable to conolude that there had been "No Significant Fault or 
Negligence" on the part of the athlete. In this regard, the Panel noted that for many years, 
athletes of all levels have been sensitised from a very young age to the plagae of doping 
and the strict rules that are imposed upon athletes when they take part in competitions. 
Given those circumstances, the Panel considered it inconceivable that an athlete such as 
Mr. Mellouli had not thought - if only for a second - of the risk that he took by absorbing 
a piil the substance of which he was unaware. According to the Panel in the Mellouli 
case, even in a state of stress or fatigue, an elite athlete shoxïld nevei cloud his personal 
düty to ensure that no Prohibited Substance enters his body. 

107. Having regard to the circumstances advanced by the appellant, USADA notes that, 
despite the acknowledged personal setbacks and pressiires under which the appellant was 
operating, he was nevertheless well enough to go to work, wrestle well, give interviews 
to the press, and make decisions in his relationship. Even if the pressures that he was 
under somehowjustified his asserted one time Use of marijuana approximately two weeks 
before he was tested, they coxdd not adequately explain why, in the two week period 
foUowing, he was unable to exercise sufficiënt judgment not to compeie and thus place 
himself in thepath of an almost inevitable dnig test, 

V DÏSCÜSSÏON 

108. The appellant has acknowledged committing an anti-doping violation for which the 
minimum penalty is a two year period of ineligibility unless he can establish the existence 
of exceptional circumstances or persuade the panel that the proportionality principle can 
and should be appÜed in this case to reduced the otherwise applicable sanction. 

Exceptional Circumstances 

109. The appellant accepts that he cannot establish that there was "No Fault or Negligence" on 
his part. He therefore relies on Article 10.5.2 of the Regulations which permits the Panel 
to reduce the otherwise applicable period of Ineligibility by up to one half on the basis 
that there was "No Significant Fault or Negligence"^. 

^ In evaluating whether an athlete has establishcd that he or she bears ''No Significant Fault or Negligence, we note 
the conunentary to Article 10.5 of The WADA Code, which provides: 

"To ïUustrate the opcration of Article 10,5, an example where No Fault or Negligence would rcsult in the total 
elimination of a sanction is where an Athlete could prove that, despite all due Kire, he or she was sabotaged by a 
competitor. Convcrscly, a sanction could hot be completely eliminated on the basis of ND Fault or Negligence in the 
following circxïmsïances; (a) a positive test resultijig from a mislabded or contaminated vitamin or nutritional 
supplement (Athletes are responsible for what they ingest (Article 2.1.1) and have been wamed against the 
possibility of supplement contamination); (b) the adminish-ation of a prohibited substance by the Athlete's personal 
physician or trainer without disclosure to the Athlete (Athletes are responsible for their choice of medical personnel 
and for advising medical personnel that they cannot be given any prohibited substance); and (c) sabotage of the 
Athlcte's food or drink by a spouse, coach or other person witbin die Athlete's circle of assocïates (Athletes are 
responsible for what they ingest and for the conduct of those persons to whom they entnist access to their food and 
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nO. A pre-conditipn to obtaining a reduoed period of ïneligibility based on exceptional 
circumstances is that liie appellant must also establish how the Prohibited Substance 
etitered his system. 

111. While we accept that the cause of the appellant's positive test was his use of marijuanaj 
the evidence of Dr. Gustafson, which was not effectively undermined, renders it 
improbable that the positive test was the result of the appellant's use of marijuana on one 
occasion 12 to 13 days prior to being tested. It foUoWs that the appellant is either 
mistaken as to when his one-time use of marijuana prior to being tested occurred 
(although he has little room to manoeuvre in this regard as the evidence of both the 
athiete and his wife was that ihe marijuana smoking incident occurred before ihQ athlete 
went to see Dr. Ravin and the indication, from the prescription receipts filed, is that the 
consultation with Dr. Ravin occurred no later than 29 May 2007) or the appellant in fact 
smoked marijuana more than once in the period leading up to the 10 June 2007 test date. 

112. Having concluded that we cannot accept the appellant's evidence as to when and/or how 
many times he consumed marijuana, we considered what effect that would haVe on the 
appellant's ability to establish how the Prohibited Substance entered his system. 

113. In our view, it is not necessary in the circumstances of this particular case to require the 
athlete to establish with precision when the marijuana use giving rise to his positive test 
occurred in order for him to meet his burden of establishing how the THC entered his 
system. Doubts about when and/or how often the appellant used marijuana could, 
however, have a hearing on the appellant' s credibility generally. ' 

114. On the issue of whether, on a baïance of probability, the appellant has demonstrated that 
he bore "No Significant Fault or Negügence", we accept the appellant's submission.that 
his particular circomstanceSj including the state of hiè mental health at the time of his use 
of marijuana and his subsequent positive test, are relevant to our evaluation. 

115. Although Dr. öendel believed that the appellant's mental state in late May and early June 
of 2007 ünpaired the appellant's ability to make rational decisions, he also acknowledged 
that the pressures faced by the appellant did not amount to diminished responsibility (in 
the criminal laW sense). The appellant Was still capable of distinguishing between right 
and wrong. Dr. Gendel feit, however, that the appellant was "programmed to wrestle and 
win" and that during the relevant period he was in a mode that unless there was a real 
danger - which he seemingly failed to apprehend - he would wrestle. It was Dr. 
GendeI's opinion that although the appellant might have had the capacity to realise that it 
was wrong for him to smoke marijuana and that the appellant was also capable of making 
a determination whether or not to compete, it had never occurred to the appellant that it 
might be inadvisable for him to do so. Dr. Dewan challenged this conclusion. Dr 
GendeI's evidence is in conflict with the appellant's evidence: see Paragraph 72 above. 

drink). However, depending on ihe unique facis of a particular case, any of the referenced illustraiions could result 
in a reduced sanction based on No Significant Fault or NegUgence, (For example, reductïon may well be 
appropriate in illusTration (a) ïf The Athlete clearly establishes thai the cause of the positive Eest was contamination in 
a common multiple vitamin purchased from a source with no connection to Prohibited Substances and the Athlete 
exercised care innottaldng other nutritional suppïements.)" 
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116. Significantly, Dr, Gendel acknowledged that it would make a difference to hls assessment 
of the appellant's oredibiüty if the appellant had, in faot, used marijuana more than once 
shortly before being tested in June 2007. Given our acceptance of Dr. Gustafson's 
evidence, tlie foundation for Dr. Gendel's assessment is somewhat compromised. 

117. The comments of the Tribunal in MelïouU have a, resonance with Mr, Wanen's case, The 
appellant in MelïouU was clearly nnder a lot of pressure to complete his project at the 
time he used amphetamine. The appellant's circumstances, on the other hand, were the 
result of a combination of life events and stresses, 

118. It may well be that Mr. Warren was, to Use lay language, crashing and burning at the time 
that he used marijuana m May 2007 and that he remained in that state too when he 
competed (even though he could easily have avoided trouble by not competing). Whüe 
he was, at times, evidently able to put on a "game face", we are inclined to accept that in 
reality he was going through a turbulent time in his personal and emotional life, 

119. Ultimately, while we are sympathetic to the appellant's circümstances and accept that he 
was under a great deal of stress at the time, we have difficulty reconciling the evidence of 
impaired decision making with what actually happened, The fact is that in the two weeks 
leading up to the competition on 10 June 2007, the appellant prepared by training and 
cutting weight. He worked. He gave media interviews. The medical evidence is that he 
was able to differentiate between right and wrong. Furthermore, our sympathies for the 
appellant are somewhat lessened by the likelihood that his evidence conceming when, 
and possibly how many times, he used marijuana m May 2007, was inaccurate. 

"120, The Panel is aware of the decision in USADA v, Barney Reed (AAA No. 30 190 000548 
07 (21 May 2008)) in respect of which we understand that an appeal to CAS is now 
pending. There an athlete's use of medically presoribed marijuana to deal with a "serious 
medical condition"» resulting in an adverse analytical finding during in-competition 
testing, was held to be not significantly negligent. The athlete had previously 
discontinued his use of medical marijuana 15 days before competing so that the 
marijuana could pass through his system before he competed. On the occasion in 
question, however, he had' discontinued his marijuana use just nine days before 
competition due to difficulty with sleeping (which the marijuana helped) and it was 
thought that this had resülted in the positive test. The tribunal discounted the effect of the 
athlete's failure to obtain a therapeutic use exemption because it found the athlete had not 
been actively educated about the TUE programme. Taking into account the totality of the 
circumstanceSj the tribunal in the Reed case concluded that there had not been 
"significant" fault or negligence, What would otherwise have been a two year sanction 
was therefore reduced to 15 montbs, 

12!, While we make no comm.ent on the correctness or otherwise of the decision in Reed, 
taking into account the totality of the circümstances in this case, we cannot accept that the 
quality of appeliant's actions and decisions can be relegated to the category of "no 
significant fault or negligence". By his own admission, if he had thought iüiere was 
marijuana in his system on 10 June 2007, he would not have competed. The appellant 
competed because he did not think that the marijuana would still be in his system, The 



Tribunaf Arbitral du Sport 
Court of Arbitration lm Sport 

2008/A/1473-Page22 

appellant's use of marijuana was neither prescribed nor medicaily necessary. It was at 
best understandable, but not excusable, due to the acute stress the appellant was under. 

122. We therefore conclude that we carniot reduce the sanction itnposed on fhe appellant on 
the basis of exceptional eircumstances, 

Proportionalitv 

123. It has becomö cürnmonplace in cases heard by Doping Tribunals for propoitionality to be 
argued as a basis for reducing an otherwise applïcable sanction. As has been pointed out 
in many cases, the provisions of the Code already factor in the principle of 
propürtionality\ However, in CAS 2006/A/l 025 Puerta v/ITF the Panel stated: 

"., .in all but the very rare case, the WADC imposes a regime that, in the 
Panel's view, provides a just and proportionate sanction, and one in which, 
by giving the athlete the opportunity to prove either "No Fault or 
Negligence" or "No Significant Fatjlt or Negligence", the particular 
circumstances of an individual case can be properly taken into account 

But the problem with any "one size fits all" solution is that there are 
inevitably going to be instances in which the one size does not fit all. The 
Panel makes no apology for repeating its view that the "WADC works 
admirably in all but the very rare case. ft is, however, in the very rare case 
that the imposition of the WADC sanction will produce a result that is 
neither just nor proportionate. 

But what is a CAS Panel to do in such a case? In the PaneI's view, the 
answer is clear, albeit not without problems and difficulties. Any sanction 
must be just and proportionate, ïf it is not, the sanction may be 
challenged, The Panel has concluded, therefore, that in those very rare 
cases in which Articles 10,5.1 and 10.5.2 of the WADC do not provide a 
just and proportionate sanction, i.e,, when there is a gap or lacuna in the 
WADC, that gap or lacuna mtjst be fiUed by the Panel. That gap or 
lacuna, which the Panel very much hopes will be filled when the WADC 
is revised in light of experience in 2007, is to be filled by the Panel 
applying the overarching principle of jtistice and proportionality on which 
all systems of law, and the WADC itself, is based." 

.124. The Panel in Fuerta emphasised that it was not holding that there existed a genera! 
discretion to impose a sanction considered appropriate by the Panel, notwithstanding the 
express provisions of the Code. The Panel in Puerta was unable to conceive of any 
oircumstanoe in which the principle of proportionality could be applied if the athlete 
conoemed had committed a serieus drug offence or an offence where thére was a 
suggestion of a performance enhancing effect 

Set for examplc CAS 2004/A/Ö90 Hipperdïnger v/A. T.P. 
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125. The Panel in Puerta refeired to the decision in CAS 2005/A/830 Squizzatö WF.I.N.A. in 
which the Panel in that case recognised that a mere "uncomfortable feeling" alone that a 
one year penalty was not an appropriate sanction could not itself jiisti:^ a reduction. 
Nevertheless, despite the lengths to which the Panel in Puena went to make it as clear as 
possible that its decision did not involve the exercise of a general discretion, there has 
seemingly been an increased incidence of cases in which Panels are asked to consider 
applying proportionality principles, 

126. The Panel in MelloulU having declined to reduce the athlete's sanotion based on "No 
Significant Fault or Negligence", noted that the anti-doping mies applied inequitably in 
cases such as Mr. Mellouli's where the athlete committed a first violation, recognised it, 
explained his behaviour, regretted it, suspended himself voluntarily, accepted the 
renunciation of his world championship title (even though his anti-doping test results had 
been negative during that competition) and had taken steps to make amends. 
Notwithstanding all of these things, the athlete would have to have imposed on him the 
same sanction (2 years for his first violation) as an athlete who refused to admit to have 
taken strenger doping products intentionally over a long period of time and who had 
protested the clear results of those tests. Indeed, the circumstances of the infraction, 
according to the Panel, made the athlete's negligence Very plaüsïble. 

127. The Panel in MelïouH went on to note (as did the Panel in Puertd) that changes in the 
World Anti-Doping Code were pending and that such changes would probably result in a 
more satisfactory system of sanctions. 

.128. Ultimately, the Panel in Meïlouli concluded that although the athlete's negligence had 
been significant, it was possible for one to easily comprehend how the regrettable event 
had come about and this, when viewed with all of the other circumstances, made the case 
of Mr. Mellouli exceptional and rendered disproportionate a period of ineligibility of two 
years. In the result, the Panel reduced the period of meligibility to 18 months. 

129. Since the pronouncement of the decisions in Puerta and Mellouli, the World Anti-Doping 
Code has, indeed, been revised, with the revisions set to take effect on 1 January 2009. 
Under Article 10.7 of the 2009 Code, the penalty for a second anti-doping rule violation 
where both violations involve specifïed substances under Article 10,5 of the 2009 Code, 
will be in a range of one to four years. The criterion for determining the precise sanction 
appears to be the athlete's degree of fault (see Article 10.4).. 

130, Although the 2009 Code contains transition provisions, these provisions do not apply to 
cases decided before the new Code comes into force. Had the 2009 Code already come 
into effect, Article 25.2 would have permitted us to apply the principle of lex tniïior 
(which, in the context of anti-doping rules, would enable an athlete found to have 
committed an anti-doping offence to benefit &om new Code provisions, assumed to be 
iess severe, even when the events in question ooourred before the new Code into force). 
However, the new Code also contains the following provision which could ultimately 
offer an opportunity to the appellant: 
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25.3 Application to Decisions Rendered Prior to Code Amendments. 

With respect to cases where a fmal decision finding an anti-doping rule 
violation has been rendered prior to the Effective Date, but the Aihkte or 
other Person is still serving the period af IneligibiUty as of the Effective 
Date, the Athleie or other Person may apply to the Anti-Doping 
Organization which had results management responsibility for the anti-
doping tule violation to consider a reduction in the period or IneligibiUty 
in light of the 2007 Code Amendments. Such application must be made 
before the period of hieligibüity has expired. The decision rendered by 
the Anti-Doping Organization may be appealed pursuant to Article 13.2. 
The 2007 Code Amendments shall have no application to any anti-doping 
rule violation case where a fmal decision fmding and anti-doping rule 
violation has been rendered and the period of IneligibiUty has expired. 

131. We do not read the 2007 Code amendments as permitting us to prospectively adjust a 
sanction, To do So woüld be to usurp the jurisdiction which the anti-doping organisation 
which had results management responsibility for the original infraction is giVen Under 
Article 25.3 of the 2009 Code. Nor do we consider it appropriate to invoke principles of 
proportionality to vary a sanction which, even though it seems severe to us inall of the 
circumstances, is nevertheless in accordance with the mies in force at the time of the 
infraotion, at the time of the hearing before the Doping Tribunal and at the time of the 
hearing this appeal and the release of this award. 

132. Nevertheless, a dispute resolution process such as this one typically has amongst its 
goals, whether expressed or implied, the just, most expeditious and least expensive 
resolution of the dispute. With that in mind, and having regard tó the fact that under 
Article 25.3 of the 2009 Code, the appeïlant's route for seeking a reduction of the 
outstanding balance of his period of ineligibility would take him back to USADA with a 
further right of appeal to CAS, we believe it appropriate that we indicate now how we 
would have approached the issue of sanction had the 2009 Code already been in force. 

133. We woüld have regarded the degree of fault on the part of the athlete as suggestive of a 
sanction towards the lower end of the prescribed range of one to four years. We would 
have regarded a period of ineligibility of 18 months firom the date of the appeïlant's 
acceptance of a provisional suspension (23 July 2007) as appropriate. Leaving the 
sanction at two years would have the practical effect of rendering the appellant unable to 
compete in the 2009 World Championships: a two-year period of ineligibility in this case 
would be effectively a three-year period of ineligibility. Given the appeïlant's age, this 
could be effectively a lifetime ban. We should add that this view is based on the 
evidence before us at this hearing. As and when the appellant makes a further application 
to USADA, the evidence and the circumstances may have changed. Our views in this 
regard are, acoordingly, not intended to have any juridical effect and are provided by way 
of guidanceonly. 
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134. Under Art. 57 the Panel has iull power to review the facts and the law and to conduct a 
fiili evidentiary hearing: effectively, a hearing de novo. This does not mean, however, 
that the findings of the Doping Tribunal are not entitled to deference. In fhis regard, we 
note that the case before us was somewhat different to the case before the Doping 
Tribunal. ïn particular, the Doping Tribunal did not have the benefit of Dr. Gendel's 
testimony. Accordingly, the Panel has, for the most part, approached this matter afresh, 
while remaining cognisant of the evidence considered, and finding made, by the Doping 
Tribunal. 

vn cosTs 
135. As this is a disciplinary case "of an international nature ruled in appeal," Article R65 of 

the Code of Sports-related Arbitration govems the allocation of costs. Under Article 
R65.3, this tribtmal has the discretion to decide which party shall bear costs, or in what 
proportion the parties shall share them. This allocation applies to the costs advanced by 
the parties only, as the CAS bears the costs of these proceedings and the fees and costs of 
the arbitrators per Article R65.1 

136. In our view it is appropriate in this case that the parties bear their own costs. In 
accordance with Article R65.2, the court fee of 500 Swiss firancs should be retained by 
CAS. 

VÏII. SOMMARYOFCONCLUSIONS 

137. "We have, in summary, concluded as foUows: 

a. The appellant has coomiitted an anti-doping rule violation, namely, the presence 
in his Bodily Specimen of Carboxy-THC at a concentration greater than 15 
ng/mL; 

b. Carboxy-THC is a cannabinoid and, as such, a "specified substance" for the 
puiposes of Article 10.3 oftheReguIations; 

c. This violation is the appellant's second anti-doping rule violation, the first such 
violation having involved the same Prohibited Substance and havïng occunred in 
April 2006; 

d. The violation arises from the appellant's use of marijuana prior to the test which 
gave rise to the positive finding noted above; 

6. The appellant has not established that he bears No Significant Fault or Negligence 
for this anti-doping rule violation and, as such, the Tribunal declines on that basis 
to setareduced sanction based on exceptionaï ciroumstances under Article 10.5.2 
of the Regulations; 
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f. There is no basis for departing from the sanctions provided for by the Regulations 
based on the proper application to the principles of proportionality; 

g. The appeal iŝ  accordingly, dismissed; 

h, The parties should bear theü- own costs. 
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ON THESE GROÜNDS 

The Court of Arbitration for Sport rules: 

1. The appeal filed at the Court of Arbitration for Sport by Mr Joe Warren on 2 February 

2008j against the United States Anti-Doping Agency, is dismissed. 

2. The period of ineligibility of 2 years from 23 July 2007, imposed by the Doping Tribunal 

on Mr Warren, is confinmed. 

3. This award is rendered without costs, except the minimum CAS Court Office fee of CHF 

500 (five hundred Swiss francs), which was paid by Mr Warren and is retained by the 

CAS. 

4. Each party shall bear its own legal costs and all other expenses incurred m connection with 

this arbitration. 

5. All other prayers for relief are dismissed. 

Done in Lausanne, this 24 day of July 200 8 

THE COURT rrRATÏOKf FOR SPORT 

GrwmeMew 
Fr*6SÏrient of the Ponol 


